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York Is the County of the Revolutlon

By Elwood Street
' Photographs by the Author

FROM Willlamsburg eastward winds the
Colonial Parkway, one of America's most
beautiful automobile roads.

Retwoen walls of vivid green—pine, oals,
gum and holly—it runs. These walls are so
continuous that the Parkway seems almost
like a corridor with the sky as its arched
and dazzling roof. Finally the corridor ends,
and the Parkway becomes the center alsle of
a horizon-hounded amphitheatre of spread-
ing flats, where waters of tidal inlets whis«

~ per among wmarsh grasses. On the left lies
the wide York River, an even deeper blue
than the sky. White sails fleck the river
surface: and, toy-like In the distance, a ferry
hoat slides into the slip at Gloucester Point,
tiny on the far, low nerthern shore of the
river. The scene s so beautiful and charm-
ing that it scems theatrical. And theatrical
it 1s; tho theatre of operations of several
of our wars,

The wars quickly press upon the Parkway.

It passes on the right a United States
Marine Hospltal and the Naval Mine Depot.

Into the river on the left, naval piers
project, like the ugly broken tceth of Mars,

The Parkway swirls about & British out.
work of the siepe and surrender of 1781,
The National Park Service has restored the
fort, It is complete with sharpoened oulward-
pointed stakes. Old muzzle-loading bronze
field pieces glower through notched -em-
hrasures in the sodded embankment.

The Parkway, now highway, drops to the

heach and runs along it at the foot of & -

high bluff. Restaurants and soft drink
stands are ranged hetween the road and
bluff, Filling stations and oil tanks obscure
tho river view,

Army trucks and paﬂscngcr cars stand in
lino-to enter the ferry boat which is just dis-
charging its southward-bound vehicles. The
forry is a vilal link in United States Route

17, the George Washinglon Highway, great

northi-and-south traffic artery,

It continues briefly under the bluff; then

swings sharply right toward the top of the
hill, On the way up the route passes the
great monolithie marker which. locates the
site of the home of Nicholag Martlau, first
sottler of Yorktown, He was the first Amor-
fcan ancestor of both George: Washinglon
and General Thomas ' Nelsan, governor- al

the time of the siege of Yorktown, These ~

two dcqccndants of ( Martfaw were thhd
cousins,

At the top of the hill Route 17 turns left
on a street, sign-posted. “Main,"  Fifteen
- miles have been tmverscd from Willlams-
burg,

This {s the Main Street of Yorktown, scat.

of York County, No need {o recount . its
story of the pursuit of Lord Cornwallis’
Dritish army to this spot by the French and
American anmies of Lafayelle, Rochambeay,

St, Simon and Wnshmglon' of Count. do .
Grasse's French flect in the river preventing -

Cornwallls' escape or reliefs of {he sicge, of
* Cornwallis' surrender on Ocloher 19, 1871,
which practically ended the Revolullonary

* War, No need, cither, to.describe the many -

architectural and - military relics of those
days which have made of this town of 300
& Natlonal Historical Park under the control

and development of the National Park Serv.

fce, These are amply described in guide-
books and well known to tourists and to
most school children, pas{ and present, Most

appropriately, Governor E, Lee Trinkle once
said, "It is a shame for any boy or girl to he

born in Vivginia and never sce Yorktown."”
Relics of Silk Culture

At the. ‘left-hand, northecast corner of

Route 17 (Ballard Street to Yorktowners)

and Main Street is the courthouse green,

On the very corner, with its:back {o the hill-

climbing street, is the gray, sticco-covered
clerk's office,

Just beyond it, facing Main Street nnd,

close to it, is thc York County Courthouse,
Its front is masked by gnarled mulberry
trees, relics of ancient hopes of Virginia silk

-culture, It wag promoted by Edward Digges,-
governor from 1655-1657, whe lived on the

site of the present Naval Mine Depot, Just
east of the courthouse gleams  the new,
white-painted, green-shutiered, one-story,
~ frame post office.

The front of the courthouse fs blocked
to pedestrians hy a rough fence of hori-
zontal, unpainted hoards, Scaffolding clings
to the long. sides of the brick huilding,
Negro workmen, ~ cheerily talkative, " rip
charred shingles off the roof and. tear. out
half-burnt heams which they lower {o the
ground with block and tackle, This day is

ThlS little, wlute frame hulldmg is a restoration of thé famous, old Swan Tav- :

ern, orlgmally built-in 1719-1722 and burned in 1863

““evidently the final one on wWhich the court.

house will have a roof; and one of the last

days on which in it will have any corporeal

existence at all,
The front of the building is unadorned

except for a little, square, wooden porch“
over the front dooxway On -either side of

that doorway, a window blankly stares. At
the second-floor level are three evenly-

- spaced windows,  from . which streaks of -

smoke run upward along the bricks:toward
the roof-gable, In its peak is another win-

“dow. All its glass is smashed out, Its frame
iis charred by the same fires that broke

through along {he Jower edge of the simple
wooden -cornice - and . stained ~with " their
smoke the bricks below, :

A very death’s head of a courthouse, with -

its sightless eyes of windows and with gap-

ing, lifcless mouth -of idly- swmglng front

doors,
Victorian Gingerbread -

"HE Victorlan Age of courthouse hirth is
" indicated by jigsaw. work in the four

corners underneath the porch roof, -Against.

the wooden rails on ecither side of the porch,
lean wooden -benches reminiscent of - the

useful days hefore the fire, In-the middle of -

the porch-floor lies a big iron bell, It was

cast, accovding: to- inscription, in Baltimore -

in 1893, Never again will it-stmmon fo ses-
sions in ‘this courthouse, On either side of
the double -door-frame are- bulleiin boards,
From them stil] flutler water-stained appli-
cations  for oyster planting grounds ‘and
bther legal notices of a life now. fled for-
ever- from - this - ‘structure;. six

from the scene of which it so long was part,

Inside a central hanway runs the depth:
62 the bulldmg‘ Oft. either side open one~
txme jury rooms: and offices: of county of«:

ficials—apartments: now dusty -and- filled

with the debris of-fallen plastery shattercd‘

glass and: broken, fulmtuxe.

Close to the entrance, at the kught of the:
“hall, stairs lead to a second-floor hall which' = :
runs clear across. the front-of the building. By the act-of the General Assembly in 1691,
The remaining depth of the second floor is-

filled with the courtroom. All its furniture

has: heen removed,” Walls -are burned and

stained with smoke. Great holes gape in-the
~charred- ceiling. and are rapidly.: being  in-
creased in size by-the workmen on the roof,:

The floor is “covered with “partly-burned

laths and plaster, Desolate chamber of de- i

parted - justice!
The reason - for- this fne-bornn destruc-

- tlon, so rapidly being completed by man, is

given by Edward M, Riley, historvian for the
local office of the Natlonal Park Service, "

He is found on the opposite side of Main

-Street, in the dormer-windowed, second-

floor - headquarters . of  the. National Park

Serviee, - This little white frame bullding s =
a 1935 National Park Service restoration .of
- ihe old Swan Tavern, orlgmally built - in

1719-1722, destroyed in 1863,

qutorlan Riley is writing the history of

York County Courthouse as'a report for lhe

“John Utle.

months :
abandoned and so soon:to vanish utterly:-

National Park Service, cheerfully shares 11]8

" research:

~The courthouse was burned-the night of
December 30, 1940, by fire which probably -
.. started in a defective flue,
- considerable of & fire is-indicated by the fact :
‘that it vtook 75 OOO gallons of water to put:
it out, -v

‘ 'The'ruins,»now being pu]led ‘down,

(then Charles River) was one, were cstab-

lished in 1634, The justices first met July
12, 1633, at Utimaria,” the"home of Colonel
: They then rofated their meet-
- ‘ings among their houses, - In 1635, they met™

at the homes of Colonel Utle, John Chisman
and J, L. Chew;"in 1638, in-the homes of

those . previously named and of five other -

justices. o

- Court Finally Given a l{ome ‘

This practice was continued for d ‘good
‘many. years, 'In 1658 tlie house of Captain

Robert Baldrey, at Yorke Village on Worm-
ley's Creek, helow the old Mome House,
was. hired -for court purposes:.
prison, stocks, pillory and ducking pool'were

erccted close at hand:’ Yorke included Tems~
ple Farm, ot ‘which"the“Mdore House §tqod, -
and”sentjts own' burgess to the General“

Assemb)y as early as 1632,

In. 1677, the. court moved to Handsfor
House at:the. head. of ‘Felgate. Creek. -

1679, it met at French’s Ordinary and. thev
-near-by-Half Way House and.in 1680 bought ~
- the house of Andrew Reader, near the' pres- "

ent Naval Mine Depot,.

built- there,

looking for a place to curl up and rest:
- Circling days were over at last, though.‘

the juuges of the " -county. court- were au-

. thorized to purchase 50 acres: and to estab-

lish thereon the Port.of.Yorktown, - The site

- chosen was near Kiskiacgk, on the site of.the

present Naval Mine Depot.” There Martiau,

- & French military engineer who had come to
Virginia in 1620 and had. been employed by

the . colony;” had patented in 1631 hundreds
of acres of land for the purpose of importing
settlers, He had represented hoth Kiskiack

and Kent Islandin Chesapeake Bay as a
‘burgess in’ the General’ Assembly in 1631-2,
The land was purchased by the county court .

Ir om Martfau's

. The ; name Kiskinck had glven way’

to Yorke just a§ Yorke Village-was super-

seded by Yorke Towne: after Charles River
,Shire became York County, Lawrence Smith
laid ‘out theBenjamin Read land in' half-
. acre lots, of ‘which the “original plot is still-
“The king, however, diﬁallowed
the act of 1691, ‘hut the purchasers of lots”
Were given Iegal guarantx of possessmn.‘

on record,

That it was *

will be
“ replaced by a-building of Colonial design,
-for: which the National Park Service ‘has .
helped to draw. the plans, “The new’ court-*""
.house will be: the fifth upon . this site. .

" Court-was held in'this’ county even befor
“the eight -original shu’es, of “which- York

" hazard fire was in'the old days!

The county -

A prison, too, was -
Thus, for over 60 years, the
county court circled. ahout ]ilie a hotind dog .

“of 1865, .which" ‘destroyed: so

York did not become an offxcial port town

until- 1705,

In the meantime, though, the inhabitants

of the county successfully petitioned the
General Assembly to move the court to the
new town,

In 1697, the county court contracted for
the erection of a courthouse and levied a tax
of 28,000 pounds of tobacco for that purpose.
The following March, the buildings. were

.completed, and the court ordered the remov-

al of the county weights, stocks, pillory and
whipping post from the “old courthouse” to
this, the first one*in Yorktown, on the very
site where the fouxth so recently was
burned.

The second courthouse here was built in
1730-33, along with new pillory and stocks,
(Always the means for detaining and pune
ishing offenders is not far from the court.
house's machinery for 'determining guilt.)
In 1737, & new prison was.built. -Following
the British occupation of Yorktown in 1781,

the courthouse was used'as a hospital by -
the French armies of, Lafayette and Roe-

chambeau, *
- Revolution’s Imprint Strong -

HIS is‘one Virginia town on whicl the

Revolution made - a -greater impression
than did the War Between. the States, York-
town is dominated by the: Yorktown Monu-
ment, erected by -Congress in 1881 on the
bluff above the river, about a quarter. of a
mile cast of the courthouse,. The monument
is 95 feet high, encrusted with symbolic bas

- reliefs and surmounted by a massive, whites

marble female figure of victory.~ She stands
with  arms. outstretched “toward 'the ' old
Siege works, as if: welcoming to eternal glory

_the:souls who fought and died there'so that'

their ‘young. nation ‘might survive, No Cone

federate mohument -(almost invariable com. -
~ panion :of the ergmla Courthouse) is uny-

Where in siglit.:

also the ‘War of 1819, ‘was seen’ by the sec-

- ond courthouse. ., Its life of democrahc serv-

fce ‘camic“to an end, however on March 9,

- 1841, when a- great: fire ‘burned” the cour t-
“house, the'church andithe whole:of the town
What. a,

below: the. hill except iwo"houses.

The court met in the home. of Mathews

Wills until the fourth courthouse was built
in 1816-18,: It stood’ until the night of De- -

cembBer 16,1863, when the explosion of gun

- powdeér, stored in it by Féderal troops since’
' May, 1862, obliterated the courthouse and all *
the adjacent buildings, - including ‘the jail, -

the clerk’; s off!ce and the'Swan Tavem.

Fire, again, and. the biggest exploswn in :

the history of Txdewater Virginia, .
The - e‘<p1051on,

County folk that they went 12 years without

- a courthouse, " Then, in 1875; was construct-
ed the plain, brick structure; fourth of its.
'lme, w]uch was burned at the close of 1940,
. “The new. courthouse w:ll be’ pxactical]y
. fneproof and. njore; beauuful ‘than- any oI fts.:

pr edecesscus. s

' Unseathed by. this: latest ﬁre, however, is
~‘the- clerk's ‘office ‘to the: left of the burned
. courthouse, * +Unscathed;, too, by any of York-
town's fires and vigissitiudes-are the:records:’
:within iti:
“from: the’ first court's-sitting' in 1633, are

- They"are -practically complete,
amiong the most complete- sets of records in

too,

- The records,” ‘and thexr c]erk fu‘sf had a
speclal office of their own in 1708. It served

during the Revolution,  when -the records.

were removed to Richmond for safekeeping,

A century seemed .to be old ‘enough for a
- clerk's. office, and a neéw. one was built in

.~ Not! only ‘the Wat of the Revolution, but;

thc ‘War Between the
B States and Reconshuction s0 unsettled York

" war,

. The ubove photograph mﬂde la‘;t summer of Yo rl\ County (‘mnthousc,

~burned Decembcr 30, 1940, is probnblythe Iast ever {aken of the building,

‘ transactions, court seniencos and orders,
- “Upon' these records rest proof of paternity,

legitimacy, property, guilt and innocence and
innumerable other facts and rights indis-
pensahle to humanity and to the special re-

sponsibility of local government. Small won--
“.der . that counly records . are guarded so

zealously and preserved so carefully, and

Ahat act of the General Assembly for over 40
- years_has required that in each countly rec- -

ords be preserved:in fireproof reoms, These
records are, as it were,” the lining of the
wellspring of democracy!

York County's records, so solicitously pre- -

served through' all vicissitudes of fire and
were . finally established in-the clerk'’s
office' which was built besuie 1he new couxt-
house in 1875,

This 66-year-old office s built s(urd:ly of
brick, covered Wwilh'stucco, Its plain ends
go ‘up in'steps, at' the top, to & chimney at
each end of the slate robf. Barred windows

“and a steel door are in the one-storied facade

opposite the west side of the courthouse.
Under: the eaves is-'a denticulated cornice
whose teeth cast heavy- shadows down the
flat’wall in"the noonddy summer sun. Over

~the cenfral door s a simple sign, painted on

the wall, in: white- Jetters on black, white-
bordered bﬂCkglOUlld “York County Clerk’s
Office.”

Inside- the building are three small rooms

and a fireproof record-vault, -On.the wall

‘of the reception room'is a bronze tablet:
. ¥In memory of Bolivar Sheild, clerk of York .
County, Virginia—1848 to 1868~who saved -

all the county records, dating from 1633 to

1862, by taking them to the Mattapom Riv-
“er and keeping them in an ice house until -

the end of the war.”” From that experience,

- some of the old records have water-marks,

! b, aper-maker,
any Vngmxa county, and among the oldest, ;’:not put there by the pap

- Clerk Floyd Holloway's legal competence

“{many Virginia county clerks are lawyers)

1808, From it, during the War of 1812, the .

records were taken to the home of the clerk,
The clerk's. offiee survived -the Great Fire

of 1814 and received the records again when.

danger of British invasion was over,

- Records Hidden in Icehouse
‘When Federal tloops approached, during

the War Between the States, the clerk re-
" county's name. One authority says that the:

moved: them to the icehntise. of & near-hy
plantation, Thus, they escaped the exploston

of 1863, which certainly would have blown .
‘them to Kingdom Come, as' it did everything
“else in and around ‘the. courthouse green,

'Thé records also éscaped: the Richmond fire
)any othér
ledewater county records whfc
removed to:the capltal for safekeepmg from
the Yankees,.

County records m precious things, v

s attested by framed certificates of the Bar
 Examiners of Virginia and a permit-to prac-

tice Jaw before ‘the Supreme Court of Ap-
peals of Virginia, He has heen county clerk
since 1919, Naturally, he knows the history
of his county, says:

rk County (mmal]y namcd ‘Charles
River \is.one of the eight original shires set

“up by the General Assembly in 1634, {0 be

had been ‘
- nucleus of “the: county, had existed for a

ords of births, deaths, marrtages, real estete “1 :

organized - on the same hasis as IEnglish
counties, ~As you know, court was organized
here a year earlier, to meet the needs of

"-the growing population,

“Accounts vary as to the derivation of the

county ‘was named after Charles, Duke of
York, afterwards Prince of Wales and

*wards James 1L

‘Essex and Richmond Counties,

was named in horor of James, Duke of York,
when the counly was formed, and after-
lic was made Duke of
York in 1643,

" e county mxgnmllv was composed of

> the plantations lying alang the York River,

then called the Charles. - In 1643 the name
of the river and of the coumy were changed

1o Yox k.

])ozon Coun(v Children

HIS original county extended all the way
to ihe Rappahannock, - From it were
made. 12° preseni-day counties.  Lancaster

County, made of seetions of Northumberland”

and York Counties, was estahlished {n 1651,
From it in 1673 came Middlesex and Rappa-
hannock. Counties. - The latier disappeared
in 1692 when it was divided info the present
Gloucester
County- also was split off from York in
1651, and gave up Mathews in 1791, . In 1654,

~York suffered further final diminution to

Charles I, the same Charles for whom the .

still earlier Charles City Corporation, later

" reduced to Charles City County, was named.

Charles was king when. our county was
established, but  ‘York- Plantation,’ - the

number of years and its representatives had
sat in the’ General Assembly since 1631-02.
“Another authomty holds that the county

136 square miles. by the excision of west-
ward-lying New Kent, which in 1691 gave

“up King and Queen, and in 1702 King Wil-

Jiam., Xing and Queen Jost Hanover in 1721
and Louisa in 1742, York was a real mother
of counties,

And county clerks in this office and its
predecessors have been mothering its rec-
ords ever since “plantatjon” days,

Behind the elerk’s office, Negre CCC hoys
in blue uniforms are rolling up sod and dig-
ging around ancient foundations that lie
hetween the rear of {he courthouse and the
iwo-story, harred-windowed-and-doored jail.
C. B. Bentzen, archeologist for the National
Park Service, is supervising the digging. He
explains {hat the foundations thus brought

- “to light are those of the courthouse of 1733

and of three periods of jail constructjon here
Jaid bare., Even the place of the courthouse
explosion of 1863 has been discovered, a
bulge where the foundations are pushed
outward by the blast., That courthouse was
T.-shaped, the excdavations reveal, as will be
the new one.  Archeologist Bentzen points
to a {unnel under one of the jail foundations,
says it must have been where somaseight-
eenth. century prisoners dug their way to
freedom. JEvidently, Virginians a]ways have
heen' liberty-loving,

Loving always liberty, and democracy as
well, Here in the York County clerk’s of-
fice are the records of over three centuries of
demacratic local government; transmitied to
12 counily children; /but contlinuing at its
wellspring - undiminished through war and
fire, and good times and bad. This spring
hecomes a stream—a flood of Government
hy and for the people, that flows on like
the broad and deep York River, into the
world-encompassing sea of human. life.

['This material was collected and photo-

graphed by Mr. Street during his vacation
Jast summer, Local material is supplement-

ed by WPA's “Virginia, a Guide 1o the Old.

Dominfon,” and by James Luther Kibler.]

Horse-and- Buggy Days--When Pleasures Were Slmple--Really Weren't So Bad

By Gladys B. Clem

STAUNTON may have to return to horse

: and buggy days again for awhile.
- like the English, she can take it.

No doubt a lot of us will have to be lolt-
ed out of the habit of using the car.every
time we wish to go to the corner grocery.
But should the priority regulations on ma-
terials becomb more stringent we will soon
he back to the days of hitching up the old
gray mare when it is necessary for us {o go
in town,

In spite of having to get along without
the many conveniences and labor—saving
devices, Stauntonians of the past lived to
a ripe old age. Everyona walked. They had

to, for it was the only guavanteed way. of -

‘ getting where and what you wanted,

If one wished service, one either footed
the bill—or waited on yourself, For in
those days telephones were merly two glass
jars in a boX on the wall, with a crank on
one qme and a bell on the top, and “delivery
service” was a Negro boy who.carried home
your groceries in. a large basket strapped
Of course, if you purchased
some furniture that would be sent to your
home in a dray, but if you bought nothing

larger than a pair of shoes or a hat you
- Just carried that home: yourself, .

Winters seemed longer and colder and
. spring was often far behind her scheduled
time. But it didn't faze the folks that lived
- in the days of base burners and open Frank-
lins. - They simply dressed for cold weather

+ by putting on heavy clothing in the fall and -

wearing ‘it until spring. Everyone wore
flannel, most of which was red, and of a
cheerful shade that supplied a bit of bright

[y

But -

color to the back yard wash.lines

cately embroidered, for Sundays and dress

up, But there was none s0-cozily warm as -

the every-day red one with the black cate
stxtch‘ng round the hcm.

People managed to have some good times
as they went along, contrary to.what this

generalion's vxcwpomt may be on. the sub-’

Ject.

~Just after the gay 90’s had foamed over
the buxom 1800's, Staunton put on a show
that is still food for converastion--for those
who remember it,
that day as a street carnival,’it was a form
of entertainment that has. become' linked
with ' the past»—along with - the. medieine
show and the circus parade,. It was in the

spring of 1902 that the staid, old streets of -
Staunton were given over to carnival Jollity -

for a solid week,
big event,

The whole business district literally was
smothered in a waving sea of bright bunt-
ing. Fesioons and -spirals of red, white and
blue covered the fronts of the stores and
huge rosettes burst into bloom in the most
unexpected .places.

The Elks sponsored the

room enough- for the crowds that jammed
the streets both night arfl day.

Tight rope walkers, bicycle riders and
aerialists swirled and supplied thrills for its
customers on a street nearby.
and a camel could be rented by those who
wished a little something extra in the way
of entertainment,
circus poster come to life,

Some -
ladies indicated a dash of elegance by wear-
~ Ing petticoats of cream-colored; flannel ‘deli-

Familiarly ‘known in

| Boothes and tents and
carnival rides sprang right up.in the middle .
of Main Street car tracks, leaving harely .

An elephant -

It looked exactly like a -

If restrictions imposed
at tg

war compel .a return to:horse-and-buggy day
e corner of Central Avenue and Baldwm Street at the turn of the century.

~Staunton can look to a return of such a scene

]

Judgmg from old plctmes found in family
kodak albums, “the parade” must have
been the big daily feature. Practically all
of them show ladies gazing with coy de-
mureness or staring haughtily—depending
entirely on the lady's disposition—{rom
flower-bedecked carriages that had heen
transformed into a2 mass of summer (or
paper) hloom. Even the horse was. not
neglected in the decorative scheme for many
of them wore white or pink harness, . Often
as an extra flourish a stuffed dove dangled
from some sort of fixture atiached to the
horse's head,

According to these same pictures, pa was

" sometimes cajoled into driving in the pa-

rade, maybe it was because the horse was a
bit skittish and he didn’t trust. the girls'
driving. Anyhow, he dressed up in his best
bib and tucker, which included his new
derby hat, put the women folks on the bhack
seat, and not in too good a humor, started
off. Ma and the girls might have used all
the roses in Christiandom to decorate the
family surry, but they couldn’t hide pa's
belligerent expression, . framed as jt. was,
among the flowers., Knowing that someone
was snapping his picture with one of those
new-fangled kodaks didn’t help matters,

either.
Carriage shops and wagon works along

with saddlers and. harness makers did a .

flourishing business in and around Staunion
in the days when horse was king, As the
years went by, these {rades became almost
forgotten by a world dominated by machin-
ery and the easy-riding motorcar,  But now
that Uncle Sam requires the materials used
in practically all automotive construction
they no doubt will be resurrected and put
into use again.

~
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